

# Kansas Republican Party Constitution

*As Amended July 24, 2021*

## **ARTICLE I: NAME**

The name of this organization shall be the “Kansas Republican Party”.

## **ARTICLE II: PURPOSE**

The purpose of the Kansas Republican Party is to coordinate and unite the activities of Republicans in Kansas through recognized city, county, district, and state committees under a central, statewide organization and serve as the official state affiliate of the Republican National Committee. The Kansas Republican Party is dedicated to the advancement of Republican candidates, policies and principles and shall aid in every way possible the Republican nominees selected in each partisan primary. The Kansas Republican Party seeks to advance Republican principles and beliefs by seeing them enacted as sound public policy. The Republican Party works to ensure its growth through voter registration and by attracting disenfranchised members of other political parties.

## **ARTICLE III: PRIMARY ELECTIONS**

The policy of the Kansas Republican Party is that Republican primary elections shall remain closed. Participation in the Republican primary election is limited to registered Republican voters.

Any change to the method the party uses to select its candidates for public office must be ratified by the state committee in three consecutive calendar years.

## **ARTICLE IV: COUNTY ORGANIZATION**

- (A) *County Central Committee Membership:* The county central committee is composed of all Republican precinct committeemen and committeewomen elected at the most recent August primary election, plus precinct committeemen and committeewomen appointed by the county chair to fill vacancies. No incumbent member shall lose his or her office before the next succeeding August primary election by reason of consolidation of precincts or changes in precinct boundaries.
- (B) *Reorganization Meeting:* The incumbent county chair shall call a meeting of the county central committee for the purpose of reorganizing the committee and electing new officers to take office immediately. The reorganization meeting must take place between the August primary election and fourteen (14) days following the November general election. Precinct committeemen and

committeewomen assume their position on the day following the primary election or when appointed by the County Party Chair

- (C) Majority of County Committee May Call for Reorganization: A majority of the county central committee members elected at the August primary election may require a meeting of the committee to be held on a date selected by the majority, by making written petition to the county chair not later than September 10th and not less than ten (10) days before the selected meeting date. The County Chair must give notice of the meeting within five (5) calendar days of receiving sufficient petitions to evidence a majority. At the meeting it is in order to reorganize the committee by electing new officers to take office immediately.
- (D) Proxy Voting: Proxies are permitted for voting purposes at county central committee meetings, but only if carried by a qualified Republican elector from the absent member's precinct. The signature on the proxy of the absent member must be acknowledged before a notary public.
- (E) Electing Members of the District Committee: At any meeting of the county central committee at which it shall be in order to reorganize, it is in order to elect that county's members and alternate members of the congressional district committee. If the reorganization meeting is held and no congressional district committee members are elected, then they may be elected at any other meeting of the county central committee held no later than fourteen (14) days after the general election, upon notice stating that such election will be held. If no formal meeting is held to select congressional district committee members and alternate members, they will not be allowed to participate in congressional district committee meetings.
- (F) If Chair Does Not Issue Notice: If notice of a meeting required by this Constitution is not given in timely fashion by the chair, the vice chair may give such notice. In the event that the county chair or vice chair neglects to give notice of a meeting recognized by this rule, any member qualified to vote at a meeting may request the congressional district chair to give notice of a reorganization meeting.
- (G) Notice Requirements: Notice requirements for meetings of the county central committee may be established by State or County Bylaw.
- (H) Blackout Period for Appointments of Precinct Leaders: A County Chair cannot appoint individuals to vacant precinct committee positions between the last August primary and the meeting at which the county central committee reorganizes.
- (I) County Committee Officers: The elected officers of the county central committee shall include a chair, vice chair, secretary and treasurer. It shall not be necessary for any of the officers of the committee to be a central committee member. One person may hold both the offices of secretary and treasurer. County parties may have additional elected or appointed officers.
- (J) If No Precinct Committeemen or Committeewomen Elected If no precinct committeemen or committeewomen are elected at the August primary election, the state party chair, with the advice and concurrence of the district committee chair must appoint an acting county chair. The acting

county chair must appoint precinct committeemen and women. The acting county chair must then call and conduct a reorganization meeting pursuant to paragraphs (B) through (H) of this Article IV.

- (K) Sole Power to Appoint Precinct Committeeperson: The power to appoint individuals to vacant precinct committee positions is vested solely in the judgment and discretion of the County Chair and so long as the appointment satisfies statutory standards, no other person or group may infringe on the Chair’s prerogative.

**ARTICLE V: CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT COMMITTEES**

- (A) District Committee Membership: Each congressional district committee is composed of:
  - (i) the county chair and vice chair of each county in the district and
  - (ii) two additional members from each county, to be elected by each of the county central committees in the district after each August primary election, but not later than fourteen (14) days after the general election, in accordance with the chart below.
- (B) Number of Votes Cast: The state party chair will provide district and county chairs with the election results of the statewide office being used and the number of delegate members allowed each county, no later than September 15th following the August primary or as soon thereafter as the Secretary of State releases the official vote totals.

“Number of votes cast” is defined as the total votes cast in the county by Republican Party voters for the Republican statewide office, the candidates for which, in total, received the highest statewide vote at the preceding August primary election. “Statewide” includes races for U.S. Senate.

If no statewide office was up for election in the immediately preceding August primary election, the number of votes cast shall be the votes cast in the last August primary election in which a statewide office was up for election.

The number of district committee members will be determined according to the following chart:

NUMBER OF VOTES CAST	NUMBER OF MEMBERS
2,000 or fewer votes	Only County Chair and Vice-Chair
2,001 – 3,000 Votes	2 + County Chair and Vice-Chair
3,001 – 4,000 Votes	4 + County Chair and Vice-Chair
4,001 – 5,000 Votes	6 + County Chair and Vice-Chair

5,001 – 6,000 Votes	8 + County Chair and Vice-Chair
Etc.	Etc.

(C) Alternate Members: When the district committee members are chosen by the county committee, up to the same number of alternates shall also be chosen.

(i) Alternates for County Chair and Vice-Chair: Two alternate district committee members shall be chosen, one for the chair and one for the vice chair of each county. Unless otherwise elected in accordance with these rules, the district committee alternate members are the elected secretary and elected treasurer of the county committee.

(ii) Alternate Members: Alternate members shall be listed by descending vote number and shall be appointed as needed by the chair or vice chair to fill vacancies of members who are absent at the time of a district committee meeting.

(D) County in Two or More Districts: In the event a county is partly in each of two or more congressional districts, the county chair and vice chair shall be members of each congressional district committee and their alternates, alternate members of each congressional district committee.

The county’s entitlement to additional members shall be computed for the county as a whole, but allocated separately for each such district as specified on the basis of the votes cast by Republican voters in each district at such primary election.

Additional members of each congressional district committee shall be elected by the precinct committeemen and committeewomen from their congressional district.

(E) Term of Office: The term of members and alternate members of the district committee shall commence on the 15th day following the November general election or when elected, whichever is later, and end on the 14th day following the next November general election or on the election of the new delegates, whichever is later.

Changes in apportionment of membership shall be effective on the 15th day following the November general election.

(F) Conduct of District Committee Reorganization Meeting: At the time a reorganizational meeting is called, the incumbent congressional district chair shall provide a copy of the proposed rules governing such meeting to all persons qualified to vote at such meeting.

(i) No district committee member shall be represented by proxy

(ii) Each congressional district committee shall organize by electing a chair, vice chair, a secretary, and a treasurer.

- (iii) It shall not be necessary for an officer of the district committee to be a member of the district committee.
  - (iv) A reorganization meeting shall be called by the congressional district chair, or if the chair fails to do so for any reason by the congressional district vice chair.
  - (v) The reorganization meeting shall be held within the district not earlier than December 1st of each even-numbered year and not later than the second Saturday in January of the following year.
  - (vi) At the district committee reorganization meeting, it shall elect that district's 37 members and 37 alternate members of the state committee.
  - (vii) Notice requirements for district committee meetings may be established by State or District Bylaw.
- (G) Effect of Redistricting: In the event of redistricting of any congressional district, the state chair may call a meeting of all county chairs and vice chairs of counties located in whole or in part within the new congressional district and all persons residing within the newly constituted congressional district who were previously members of any Kansas congressional district committee.
- (H) Effect of Reapportionment: In the event of reapportionment under the circumstances where the total number of Kansas congressional seats has changed, the state chair shall call such a meeting to reorganize for each newly constituted Congressional district. Such meeting shall organize a new congressional district committee and elect officers for each committee.
- Previously elected alternate members who reside in a new congressional district may be reassigned by the appropriate county chair to replace an absent member in the new congressional district in the same manner as stated in Article V(B) above.
- (I) Congressional Vacancy: In the absence of a congressional district committee rule to the contrary, a "congressional district convention" (as that phrase is used in K.S.A. 25-3504) shall consist of the congressional district committee.
- (J) District Convention: Any time a statute, regulation, or national party rule requires the meeting of a district convention, it shall consist of the congressional district committee.

## **ARTICLE VI: STATE COMMITTEE**

- (A) Sets Policy: The state committee sets the policy for the Kansas Republican Party.
- (B) Membership: The state committee shall consist of:
  - (i) 37 members representing each congressional district, to be elected as provided in VI(D) below;
  - (ii) The six officers of the state committee;

- (iii) The Chair and Vice Chair of each congressional district committee;
- (iv) The Chair of the Black Republican Council;
- (v) The President of the Kansas Federation of Republican Women;
- (vi) The Chair of the Kansas Young Republicans;
- (vii) The Chair of the Kansas Chapter of the Republican National Hispanic Assembly;
- (viii) The President of the Kansas Federation of College Republicans

and, as to those persons affiliated with the Republican Party, the following:

- (ix) The President of the Senate or a senator designated by the President;
- (x) The Majority Leader of the Senate, or a senator designated by the Majority Leader;
- (xi) The Speaker of the House of Representatives or a member of the House designated by the Speaker;
- (xii) The Majority Leader of the House of Representatives or a member of the House designated by the Majority Leader;
- (xiii) The minority leader of each Chamber or a member of the same Chamber designated by such minority leader;
- (xiv) The Governor or his or her designee;
- (xv) Each United States Senator or his or her designee;
- (xvi) Each U.S. Congressman or his or her designee;
- (xvii) The State Treasurer or his or her designee;
- (xviii) The Insurance Commissioner or his or her designee;
- (xix) The Attorney General or his or her designee;
- (xx) The Secretary of State or his or her designee.

No proxies shall be recognized.

In the event that a member is absent from a meeting, it shall be the duty of the congressional district chair to appoint a replacement from among those alternate members present but not otherwise voting who are from the same congressional district (with first preference to an alternate member who is from the same subdivision of the congressional district if the congressional district is subdivided pursuant to Article VI(D)).

- (C) *Effect of Reapportionment:* Reapportionment of congressional districts and/or the reorganization of congressional district committees resulting therefrom shall not alter the membership of the state committee or the executive committee until the state committee reorganizes or the date established pursuant to Article VI(E) below.

- (D) Congressional District Members: Each congressional district committee shall elect 37 members and 37 alternate members of the state committee at large within the congressional district; provided, that in those instances where the largest county (or portion thereof in the district), by membership on the congressional district committee, has more than 30% of the members of the congressional district committee, the members of the congressional district committee from that county present and voting at the meeting of the district committee shall elect a proportionate share of the state committee members, such proportionate share to be determined by multiplying 37 by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of that county's membership on the congressional district committee and the denominator of which is the entire membership of the congressional district committee.

When the application of such fraction to the number 37 results in other than a whole number, such number shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number.

The members of the congressional district committee representing the other counties shall elect the remainder of the state committee members unless the next largest county (or portion thereof) would constitute more than 50% of the remaining congressional district committee membership, in which case the members of the congressional district committee from that second largest county shall elect its proportionate share of the 37, applying the rule set above.

The remaining members of the congressional district committee shall then elect the remainder of the 37 members.

Nothing herein shall prohibit members of the congressional district committee from one county electing persons from another county to be on the state committee.

- (E) Term of Office: The term of all 37 members and 37 alternate members representing congressional districts on the state committee shall commence as of the date of the organizational meeting of the state committee and shall end on the day immediately preceding the next organizational meeting of the state committee (approximately 2 years later).

- (F) State Committee Reorganization Meeting

(i) Notice: Notice of the exact day, time of day, and place of the biannual state committee reorganizational meeting shall be given in writing or by e-mail, if available, by the state chair not less than thirty (30) days before the meeting date.

(ii) When: The reorganization meeting must occur between the last Saturday of the January next following a November general election and the last Saturday of the succeeding March.

(iii) Purpose: At the reorganization meeting, the state committee shall elect a chair, a vice chair, a secretary, and a treasurer.

(iv) Failure to satisfy the notice requirement shall not affect the validity of actions taken at the organizational meeting.

- (G) Notice: Notice requirements and regulations relating to the call of state committee meetings may be established by State Bylaw.
- (H) State Convention: Any time a statute, regulation, or national party rule requires the meeting of a state convention, it shall be a meeting of the state committee.

#### **ARTICLE VII: STATE COMMITTEE OFFICERS**

- (A) The State Committee Officers shall consist of Chair, Vice-Chair, Treasurer, Secretary, National Committeeman, and National Committeewoman.
- (B) The state chair, with the advice and consent of any executive committee established by Bylaw, may appoint an executive director who shall be a nonvoting officer of the state committee, assign duties and responsibilities and establish compensation. The executive director shall hold his or her position at the pleasure of the state chair, and once approved, the executive director's compensation shall not be reduced by the executive committee without the consent of the state chair.
- (C) Any provision relating to officers of the state committee, not inconsistent with this Constitution, may be established by Bylaw.

#### **ARTICLE VIII: GENDER**

In each instance, a chair and a vice chair shall be of the opposite sex. Any person elected state chair, congressional district chair, or county chair may, at such person's option, choose to be referred to by the title "Chairman," "Chairwoman," or "Chair," as appropriate. A similar designation may be made by any vice chair.

#### **ARTICLE IX: QUORUM**

Quorum requirements may be set by Bylaw.

#### **ARTICLE X: VACANCIES**

- (A) Officer Vacancies: In the event of a vacancy in any elected office in the state, district, county or city party, the committee which elects that office in the ordinary course shall elect a successor for the unexpired term, as follows:

Chair & Vice-Chair: In the case of a vacancy in the office of a chair, the vice chair of the same committee shall immediately and automatically assume the title and duties of the chair, unless the vice chair declines the position, in which case the committee shall elect a new chair. A new vice-



chair will be elected only if a meeting to fill the vacancy is called by the new chair or if more than half the committee members petition for a meeting to elect a new vice-chair.

Secretary & Treasurer: In the case of a vacancy in the office of a treasurer or secretary, the remaining secretary or treasurer of the same committee shall immediately and automatically assume the title and duties of the vacant office until the committee shall elect a successor, if it chooses to do so.

National Committee Member: In the case of a National Committeeman or Committeewoman, the state committee will be summoned to elect a replacement, scheduled so that the new National Committeeperson may take office in time to attend the next scheduled National Committee Meeting. State Committee members must be given at least 7-days notice of the replacement meeting.

- (B) State Committee Vacancies: In the case of a vacancy in the office of a state committee member representing one of the congressional district committees, the alternate member of the same committee elected with the highest number of votes shall immediately and automatically assume the title and duties of the member.

#### **ARTICLE XI: BYLAWS**

- (A) District, County, and City committees may adopt Bylaws not inconsistent with the State Party Constitution or Bylaws.
- (B) District, County, and City committee bylaws may not amend, supersede, define or interpret Constitutional provisions or terms.

#### **ARTICLE XII: REMOVAL OF PARTY OFFICERS**

- (A) Any elected or appointed officer or member of the state committee, excepting the executive director, may be removed from office by a vote of two-thirds of all members, whether present or not, of the state committee, provided that written petition (whether one or more) has been made by one-half (1/2) of the members of the state committee. The petition(s) shall be submitted to the State Party office and verified by the Chair or Secretary of the State Committee. Once the petitions have been verified, a meeting of the State Committee shall be called within thirty (30) days. The action of the state committee shall be final.
- (B) Any officer of a Congressional District Committee, officer of a City Party Committee, or officer of a County Central Committee may be removed from office by a vote of two-thirds of all members, whether present or not, of the committee which elected them, provided that written petition (whether one or more) has been made by one-half (1/2) of the members of the committee. The petition(s) shall be submitted to the State Party office and verified by the Chair or Secretary of the committee for which the individual is an officer. Once the petitions have been verified, a

meeting of the committee shall be called within thirty (30) days. If said action is reviewed by the State Committee, the action of the State Committee shall be final.

- (C) The treasurer of a Congressional District Committee, treasurer of a City Party Committee, or treasurer of a County Central Committee may be removed from office by unanimous vote of the remaining committee officers of the committee which elected them when a treasurer is negligent in their duties required by Kansas law. The results of such vote shall be submitted to the State Party office and verified by the Chair or Secretary of the State Committee. Once the vote has been verified, the Chair of the electing committee will serve as acting treasurer until the electing committee meets, at which time a new treasurer shall be elected.

### **ARTICLE XIII: PARTY LOYALTY**

- (A) The Kansas Republican Party is dedicated to the promotion of Republican policies, candidates and principles. The members of its governing bodies defined in this Constitution (Article IV, V, VI) are charged with promoting these goals. Therefore, any individual with voting rights on any Party committee defined in this Constitution, who by any documented public action donates, contributes, or endorses a candidate other than the Republican nominee in a contested, partisan campaign for public office in the state of Kansas, shall forfeit their voting rights and membership on the committee(s) on which they serve. This shall not, in any way, restrict rights conferred on elected officials or precinct committeemen/women as defined in Kansas statute.
- (B) A four-fifths (80%) affirmative vote by the Loyalty Committee, comprised of the Chair of the Kansas Republican Party and the Chair of each Congressional District Committee, shall determine if members of any governing bodies have violated this section. The decision of the Loyalty Committee and the resulting forfeiture of membership and voting rights on governing committees shall be effective immediately upon signed, written notification sent by first class postage to the last known address of the individual and Chair of each committee(s) of which the person is a member.
- (C) County, district or state officers (Article IV, V, VI), who by any documented public action donates, contributes, or endorse a candidate other than the Republican nominee in a contested, partisan campaign for public office in the state of Kansas, shall forfeit their official title and all rights associated with it under the rules of the Kansas Republican Party.
- (D) A four-fifths (80%) affirmative vote by the Loyalty Committee, comprised of the Chair of the Kansas Republican Party and the Chair of each Congressional District Committee, shall determine if members of any governing bodies have violated this section. The decision of the Loyalty Committee and the resulting forfeiture of membership and voting rights on governing committees shall be effective immediately upon signed, written notification sent by first class postage to the last known address of the individual and all members of each committee of which the individual

is an officer. The committee(s) affected will be required to elect a new individual to the vacant position pursuant to Article X.

- (E) Any member who feels wrongfully sanctioned by the Loyalty Committee may appeal the decision of the Loyalty Committee to the Kansas Republican Party Executive Committee (as defined by Article 5 of the Bylaws of the Kansas Republican Party). A two-thirds vote of all members, whether present or not, to reinstate the disciplined member shall over-ride the ruling of the Loyalty Committee. If requested by the member, action by the Executive Committee must occur within five (5) calendar days of the appeal being received by the State Chair sent by fax, verified e-mail or first-class mail to the State Party office.
- (F) Such forfeiture shall last for the entirety of the person's original elected term of office.

#### **ARTICLE XIV: AMENDMENTS**

- (A) Article III and Article XIV(A) of this Constitution may be amended only by a four-fifths (80%) vote of state committee members whether present or not, as well as four-fifths (80%) approval of each delegation representing each congressional district and four-fifths (80%) of the state executive committee, provided that any proposed amendments shall be submitted by the sponsoring member to all members of the state committee not less than fourteen (14) days prior to the meeting at which such amendment is offered. The state chair shall arrange for distribution of all such proposals presented to him more than twenty-one (21) days prior to a state committee meeting by any sponsoring member.
- (B) All other provisions of this Constitution may be amended by a two-thirds vote of all state committee members whether present or not, provided that any proposed amendments shall be submitted by the sponsoring member to all members of the state committee not less than fourteen (14) days prior to the meeting at which such amendment is offered. The state chair shall arrange for distribution of all such proposals presented to him more than twenty-one (21) days prior to a state committee meeting by any sponsoring member.
- (C) All amendments take effect immediately unless otherwise specified in the amendment.

# Kansas Republican Party Bylaws

*As Amended July 25, 2015*

## 1. COUNTY ORGANIZATION

### (A) Reorganization Meeting:

- (i) When: The county chair must call a reorganization meeting of the county central committee to occur after the August primary election and no more than fourteen (14) days after the November general election.
- (ii) Notice: The county chair must send written or e-mail, if available, notice of the reorganization meetings, not less than five (5) days before the meeting date, to each precinct committeeman and committeewoman elected at the most recent August primary election stating a time and place certain for the reorganization meeting.
- (iii) The county chair must mail or email to the executive director and congressional district chair copies of meeting notices, proposed rules, proposed agenda, and minutes of the reorganizational meeting.

### (B) Providing List of County Members of District Committee: If minutes of the reorganization meeting identifying the selected congressional district committee members and alternate members are not provided to the congressional district chair before the congressional district reorganization meeting, the county's congressional district committee members and alternate members will not be allowed to participate in congressional district committee reorganization meeting.

### (C) Providing List of County Committee Members:

- (i) Those Elected in the August Primary: The county chair will provide a list of all current precinct committeemen and committeewomen in the county to the state chair or executive director as soon as practical after the August primary election final canvass.
- (ii) Those Appointed: County Chairs will inform the executive director of all appointments and removals of precinct committeemen and committeewomen as soon as possible.

### (D) County Committee Bylaws and Meeting Rules: A county committee may adopt County Bylaws and meeting rules that are not inconsistent with the Constitution or State Bylaws.

## 2. CITY PARTY COMMITTEES

A city party committee shall be composed of the precinct committeemen and committeewomen of the precincts of the city, and shall be organized as provided herein for county central committees.

### **3. CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT COMMITTEES**

- (A) Notice: Meetings of the congressional district committee shall be called by giving written notice of such meeting, postage first class prepaid, or e-mail if available, to each member and alternate member of the congressional district committee mailed at least eight (8) days before the date of the meeting.
- (B) Meeting Chair: The person calling the meeting shall serve as the temporary chair.
- (C) District Rules: A congressional district committee may adopt District Bylaws and meeting rules as are not inconsistent with the Constitution or Bylaws of the state committee.
- (D) Reorganization Meetings: At the time a reorganizational meeting is called, the incumbent congressional district chair shall provide a copy of the proposed rules governing the meeting to all persons qualified to vote at such meeting.

### **4. STATE COMMITTEE**

- (A) Meetings: The state committee shall meet at least twice a year. Written notice of meetings shall be given by mail, postage first class prepaid or e-mail, if available, mailed at least fourteen (14) days in advance of any meeting by the persons calling said meeting, to the last known address of all persons entitled to vote at such meeting, and their alternates.
- (B) Calling Meetings: It shall be the duty of the state chair to call meetings of the state committee and give notice thereof. The state vice chair shall also have authority to call meetings. The secretary of the state committee shall call a meeting upon written petition of 20% of the state committee members.
- (C) National Convention Delegates: The state committee shall adopt the rules for the election of delegates to the Republican National Convention.
- (D) Procedure: "Robert's Rules of Order" shall govern parliamentary procedures at all meetings of the state committee and executive committee.
- (E) Platform: The state committee shall develop and adopt a state party platform before June 30 during each even numbered year.

### **5. NEUTRALITY IN PRIMARY OR CAUCUS:**

- (A) Except in the case of a primary or caucus in which there is only one Republican candidate, the state committee, the executive committee, district committees, county committees, city committees, and paid party staff shall not
  - (i) endorse candidates,

- (ii) provide lists of party financial contributors, or
  - (iii) provide financial support to specific candidates
- until the contested primary or caucus is finished.
- (B) In providing all other types of assistance to candidates before a contested primary or caucus, the state, district, county or city committee shall provide assistance on a non-discriminatory basis.
  - (C) State, district, county, and city officers and committee members may, in their individual capacity, endorse and support candidates in a contested primary or caucus.

## **6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

- (A) The state executive committee shall perform such duties as are delegated to it by these Bylaws, and as may be delegated to it from time to time by the state committee or its officers. All financial audits shall be addressed to the state executive committee by auditors selected by the committee. The executive committee shall perform oversight over the operations of the elected and appointed officers of the state committee.

- (B) *Inspection of Records and Files:* All records and files of the state committee shall be open and available, to the extent allowed by applicable law, to the executive committee as a whole.

Upon written petition signed by at least three (3) executive committee members and submitted to the Chair, the Chair shall cause state party records to be open and available at the Party Office to the signers of the petition, at a time mutually agreed upon by the signers and the Chair, but not to exceed thirty (30) days after the petition is submitted.

Upon the petition described in this paragraph, no less than three (3) executive committee members shall view said records at a time.

- (C) *Membership of the Executive Committee:* The state executive committee shall be composed of the following:

- (i) The six officers of the state committee;
- (ii) All congressional district chairmen and vice chairmen;
- (iii) Two persons appointed by the state chair, who shall serve at the pleasure of the state chair;
- (iv) One member from each congressional district selected at large by the district committee before the state committee organizational meeting to serve for a term until the next state committee organizational meeting;
- (v) The President of the Kansas Federation of Republican Women;
- (vi) The President of the Kansas Young Republicans;
- (vii) The Chair of the Kansas Chapter of the Republican National Hispanic Assembly;

- (viii) The Chair of the Kansas Black Republican Council;
- (ix) The President of the Kansas Federation of College Republicans

As to those persons affiliated with the Republican Party, the following:

- (x) The Attorney General, or his or her designee;
  - (xi) The State Treasurer, or his or her designee;
  - (xii) The State Insurance Commissioner, or his or her designee;
  - (xiii) The Secretary of State, or his or her designee;
  - (xiv) The President of the Senate or a senator designated by the President;
  - (xv) The Majority Leader of the Senate or a senator designated by the Majority Leader;
  - (xvi) The Speaker of the House of Representatives or a member of the House designated by the Speaker;
  - (xvii) The Majority Leader of the House of Representatives, or a member of the House designated by such Majority Leader;
  - (xviii) The minority leader of each Chamber or a member of the same Chamber designated by such minority leader;
  - (xix) One person designated by the Governor;
  - (xx) One person designated by each United States Senator; and
  - (xxi) One person designated by each U.S. Congressman.
- (D) Employee Non-Eligibility. Only individuals who are not employees of the Republican State Party may serve on the executive committee. Any individual who is serving on the executive committee will automatically be removed from the executive committee as soon as his or her employment with the State Party begins.
- (E) Meetings of the Executive Committee
- (i) No Proxies: No person shall be represented by proxy at executive committee meetings.
  - (ii) Minimum Meetings: The executive committee shall meet not less than two times per year.
  - (iii) Notice: The state chair shall give notice of all meetings by mail, confirmed email, and/or phone at least seven (7) days in advance.
  - (iv) Telephonic Meetings: Meetings of the executive committee may be held by teleconference upon call of the state chair after notice by mail, confirmed email and/or phone, teleconference meetings shall not be considered for purposes of the minimum meeting requirement, set out above. When meeting by teleconference, special effort shall be taken by the moderator to ensure all participants' votes are captured by means of a roll call vote.

- (F) Meeting Participants: Participation in meetings of the executive committee shall be limited to members and individuals requested by the executive committee, as a body, or by the state chair, to participate.

## 7. COMMITTEES

- (A) Special Committees: The state chair, with the approval of the executive committee, may establish committees for special, designated purposes.

The executive committee may stipulate that membership of all or a designated portion of any such committee be limited to members of the executive committee, or other bodies.

The executive committee may also designate authority it otherwise has to such committees, which authority shall continue until withdrawn by the executive committee, or until a term set by the executive committee ends.

- (B) Standing Committees: The following standing committees shall operate in the manner prescribed below.

- (i) **Budget Committee**: The Budget Committee shall be comprised of the Officers of the State Committee (as defined by Article VII(A) of the Kansas Republican Party Constitution) along with one additional member appointed by the state chair.

The state chair shall appoint one of the members as chair.

The committee shall be responsible for the preparation of a draft budget for each year to be approved by the Executive Committee and after approval shall provide oversight to ensure that expenditure limitations contained in the budget are met.

- (ii) **Resolutions Committee**: The state chair shall appoint a Resolutions Committee comprised of at least two (2) and no more than three (3) members per Congressional District.

The state chair shall have the authority to appoint the chair of the committee and to set rules governing the committee not in conflict with these bylaws.

Proposed resolutions, other than memorial, may be no more than three hundred (300) words long and must be submitted to State Party Headquarters and/or the chair of the Resolutions Committee at least thirty (30) days before the nearest scheduled state committee meeting.

The resolutions committee may

- (i) Approve a proposed resolution and pass it to the state committee for a vote,
- (ii) Amend a proposed resolution and pass the amended resolution to the state committee for a vote, or



- (iii) Reject a proposed resolution, in which case a two-thirds vote of the state committee is necessary for the proposed resolution to be put before the state committee for a vote.

Action by the Resolutions Committee shall be distributed to all members and alternate members of the state committee at least ten (10) days before the state committee meeting.

Resolutions not received by State Party Headquarters and/or the chair of the Resolutions Committee at least thirty (30) days before the scheduled state committee meeting may be considered by the Resolutions Committee in advance of the closest scheduled state committee meeting or held for a future meeting upon an affirmative majority vote of all Resolutions Committee members, whether present or not.

If the Resolutions Committee decides to take action on a proposal submitted after the deadline they are empowered to recommend, modify or recommend rejection of any resolution and shall provide copies of their action to all members and alternate members of the state committee at the earliest possible time.

Resolutions may be proposed by any member of the state committee, by any county or district Republican party, any standing or special state party committee or by any auxiliary Republican organization.

- (iii) **Rules Committee:** The state chair shall appoint a rules committee comprised of at least two (2) and no more than three (3) members per Congressional District.

The state chair shall have the authority to appoint the chair of the committee and to set rules governing the committee which are not in conflict with these bylaws.

The Rules Committee shall be responsible for drafting rules for all state committee meetings, recommending alterations to the bylaws and constitution and drafting other rules as requested by the state chair, executive or state committee.

The committee shall be vested with the authority to resolve all rules disputes and questions, and to ensure adherence to all party rules and, if requested, issue opinions or interpretations of rules.

- (iv) **Platform Committee:** The state chair shall appoint a platform committee comprised of at least two (2) and no more than four (4) members per Congressional District.

The state chair shall have the authority to appoint the chair of the committee and to set rules governing the committee which are not in conflict with these bylaws.

The committee shall draft a party platform in accordance with Article 4(F).

Said platform must be submitted to all members of the state committee by first class postage or by e-mail, if available, a minimum of fourteen (14) days before consideration by the state committee.

## 8. STATE COMMITTEE OFFICERS

- (A) State Committee Membership Not Required: It shall not be necessary for any officer of the state committee to be a member of the state committee at the time of his or her election.
- (B) Election: Elective officers of the state committee shall be elected by secret ballot, except in the case of uncontested elections.

To have his/her name placed in nomination for any elected state party position, a candidate must provide the state party Secretary or Executive Director written notice of his/her intent to have his/her name placed into nomination seven (7) days before the date of the election.

The Secretary or Executive Director will inform all state committee members and alternate members of all candidates for state party office no later than five (5) days before the date of the election.

- (C) Term of Office: The Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary and Treasurer shall take office immediately upon their election, and serve until such time as their successor has been duly elected.
- (D) Appointed Officers: The state chair may appoint the following non-voting officers of the state committee, assign duties and responsibilities and, as budgeted by the executive committee, establish compensation:
- (i) Chaplain;
  - (ii) Legal Counsel;
  - (iii) Sergeant-at-Arms; and
  - (iv) Parliamentarian.

- (E) State Chair Duties: The state chair shall be the chief executive officer of the state committee, and shall issue notice of meetings of the state committee and executive committee. The state chair shall preside at meetings of the state committee and executive committee. The state chair shall observe and enforce the policies prescribed by the state committee. The state chair shall have the power to appoint subordinate staff members provided for in the budget.

All party employees, including the executive director, serve at the pleasure of the chair and may be terminated at any time. Employment contracts may be negotiated with the chair or his/her designee, but may not exceed the current term of the chair. Employees are expected to submit their resignation at the end of each chair's term of office and may be retained temporarily or hired again by the new chair at his/her discretion.

- (F) Vice Chair: The state vice chair shall exercise the functions of the state chair during the absence or disability of the state chair, and in the event of vacancy in the office of the state chair. The vice chair shall perform other duties prescribed by the state chair.
- (G) Secretary: The secretary shall make a complete record of all proceedings of the state committee and executive committee. The secretary shall perform other duties prescribed by the state chair.

- (H) Treasurer: The treasurer shall assist the officers of the state committee in the preparation of budgets and estimates.
- (i) The treasurer shall have the basic financial responsibility for and authority over all financial commitments, obligations and disbursements of the state committee funds.
  - (ii) The treasurer shall maintain a working knowledge of the current financial operations of the state party and be responsible for communicating with the Budget Committee, Executive Committee and staff regarding all fundraising and budget issues.
  - (iii) The treasurer shall open and maintain bank accounts in the bank or banks approved by the state chair or the executive committee.
  - (iv) The treasurer shall prepare reports each month for the officers, shall prepare special reports as requested by the executive or state committee and shall make and execute all reports required by the federal government, the State of Kansas, and the Republican National Committee.
  - (v) The treasurer is responsible for providing detailed, written reports of account balances, year-to-date budget expenditures and revenue receipts for each meeting of the budget, state and executive committees.
- (I) National Committeeman and Committeewoman
- (i) Election: The Republican national committeeman and committeewoman from Kansas shall be elected by the state committee at its first meeting in presidential election years.
  - (ii) Term: The term of office is that set by the applicable Rules of the Republican National Committee

## **9. BUDGET**

- (A) The Budget Committee shall prepare an annual budget for the operation of the state committee. The budget year shall be April 1st through March 31st of the following year.
- (B) Said budget shall be submitted for approval to the Executive Committee by March 15th. After approval by the Executive Committee, the Budget Committee may approve modifications throughout the year to the budget not to exceed 20% for any given line item expenditure. Increases beyond 20% may be revised from time to time upon a majority vote of the executive committee.
- (C) Said budget shall be made available for review by the state committee at the next meeting of the state committee following approval by the executive committee.
- (D) Commission-based contracts must be approved by the Executive Committee.
- (E) The state chair shall have the authority to make purchase commitments and other obligations of the state committee funds and authorize disbursements of said funds. The state chair shall also have the responsibility of assuring that obligations incurred do not exceed funds available or

expenditure limitations contained in the budget. Said authority to make purchase commitments may be delegated in writing by the state chair to one or more officers.

- (F) The state chair or the treasurer (with the written permission of the state chair) may incur indebtedness in an amount not to exceed \$10,000 outstanding principal amount. The state chair or the treasurer (with the written permission of the state chair) with the approval of two-thirds of the executive committee present and voting at a properly called official meeting, may incur indebtedness in an amount not to exceed \$50,000 outstanding principal amount. Borrowings which would result in the outstanding principal amount of indebtedness exceeding \$50,000 may not be made without the approval of two-thirds of the state committee present and voting at a properly called meeting. Indebtedness shall be defined as any outstanding bills more than ninety (90) calendar days overdue, loans or expenditures that exceed budget projections.

## **10. QUORUM**

*State, District, County Committee:* There is no quorum requirement for the county central committees, congressional district committees, or the state committee.

*Executive Committee:* Quorum is required for executive committee meetings to conduct official business. Quorum is defined as one-half (50%) of the members of the executive committee.

## **11. AMENDMENTS**

These Bylaws may be amended by a majority vote of all state committee members, whether present or not, provided that any proposed amendments shall be submitted by the sponsoring member to all members of the state committee not less than fourteen (14) days prior to the meeting at which such amendment is offered. The state chair shall arrange for distribution of all such proposals presented more than twenty-one (21) days prior to a state committee meeting by any sponsoring member. All amendments take effect immediately unless otherwise specified in the amendment.

## **12. ELECTED OFFICIAL REPLACEMENT MEETINGS**

- (A) All meetings of precinct committeepersons to fill vacancies in elected positions shall comply with the current applicable statutes.
- (B) “Quorum” as used in the applicable statutes refers to precinct committeepersons physically present at the replacement meeting.
- (C) Each precinct committee person physically present may carry up to two (2) proxies.
- (D) Paragraphs (B) and (C) may be modified for a particular replacement meeting upon request to the state party chair by the county chair designated to call the meeting and approved by a majority vote of the state party officers.

